1963

# State of Utah v. J. Herbert Hansen and Gertrude T. Hansen : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

**STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE**

---

**This is an action by the Utah State Road Commission to condemn and purchase a portion of Appellants' property for highway improvement purposes.**

---

**DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT**

---

**This matter was tried before a jury which awarded judgment in favor of defendants and against plaintiff for \$21,500.00 value of land and improvements taken and for \$3,400.00 damages to remaining property, (R. 83).**



The Court refused Appellants' offer of proof as to the cost of removal of and/or damage to the value of automobiles and parts which the Appellants were required to remove from the land condemned (R. 305-307).

Appellants claim that they are entitled to be compensated for damages sustained by them by reason of being required to remove said personal property, or that in the alternative, the cost of removal should be considered in determining the price for which a seller would be willing to sell said property if he were required to first remove said personal property therefrom and what a willing buyer would pay for said property if he had to remove said personal property therefrom after purchase thereof.

The Court in effect instructed the jury that the appellants, as abutting property owners, have only the right to reasonable access to the general system of highways and that so long as the denial of access to Appellants' property was reasonable with regard to the safety and well being of the public in general, that Appellants were not entitled to com-

compensation for the consequential damages to the remainder of their property resulting from denial of access to 21st South Street. (R. 68-70)

The jury found, in response to a special interrogatory (R. 80), that the denial of access to 21st South Street was not unreasonable under the test established by the Court, and accordingly denied compensation to Appellants therefor.

---

#### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

---

Appellants seek a new trial with instructions to the Court requiring admission of evidence as to damages resulting from removal of personal property and requiring an instruction to the jury which considers the damage to the remaining property resulting from a denial of access to 21st South Street, and which considers the reasonableness of the denial of access with regard to its effect upon Appellants' land.

---

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

---

**This is an action by the Utah State Road Com-**

Sponsored by the S.J. Quinney Law Library. Funding for digitization provided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services

Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library.

Machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.

mission to condemn and purchase certain property of Appellants, situated on the North side of 21st South Street between 6th and 7th West, for purposes of changing 21st South from a two lane unlimited access highway into a six lane non-access highway, and for purposes of widening a frontage road which crosses in front of the East one-half of Appellants property and connects 21st South Street with 6th West Street. Certain improvements situated upon the property were taken and/or damaged for which severance damage was allowed. No damages were allowed for denial of access to the West half of Appellants' property from 21st South Street which abuts that portion of Appellants' property.

A large number of salvage automobiles and automobile parts were situated upon the land which was condemned by the Respondent and Appellants were ordered by the Court to remove said automobiles and parts from the land taken by the Respondents. (R. 6, 7, 13, 14 & 15)

Appellants' land consisted of over 18 acres of

land in a single tract, all of which was devoted to the business of storage and salvage of automobile parts and scrap metal. The West portion of Appellants' property abutting 21st South Street was suitable for commercial development before the taking but this value was destroyed by the denial of access from said property to 21st South Street. (R. 196-198)

---

## ARGUMENT

---

### POINT I

THE COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO ADMIT EVIDENCE AS TO THE COST OF REMOVAL OF AND/OR DAMAGE TO THE AUTOMOBILES AND PARTS WHICH APPELLANTS WERE COMPELLED TO REMOVE FROM THE PROPERTY TAKEN.

The Court rejected Appellants' offer to prove that they were damaged in the sum of \$4,500.00, lost by reason of scrapping approximately 180 automobiles, and parts to mitigate damages which automobiles and parts were situated on said premises and that the cost of removal of the balance of the automobiles and parts

situated thereon was the sum of \$7,495.00, or that said removal damaged Appellants in the total sum of \$11,959.00. (R. 305-307)

The Constitution of the United States provides in part as follows: ". . . nor shall any State deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of Law; . . ." (Sec. 1, Amendment XIV). (Chicago B. & G. R.R. v. Chicago, 166 U.S. 226; 1 Oregel, Valuation under Eminent Domain Sec. 2(2d Ed. 1953) Certainly if the value of Appellants' personal property is to be damaged or destroyed by the acts of the Respondent without compensation we are permitting the State of Utah to do precisely what is forbidden by the provision of the Constitution of the United States quoted above.

The Constitution of the State of Utah provides in part as follows: "No person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property, without due process of law." (Art. 1, Sec. 7) If the Courts deny recovery to Appellants for damages caused by being required to remove said personal property as aforesaid, certainly they have been deprived of property without due process

of law in violation of the above quoted sections of the Constitutions of the State of Utah and of the United States of America.

The Utah Constitution also provides in part as follows: "Private property shall not be taken or damaged for public use without just compensation." (Art. I. Sec. 22 - Emphasis added) It should be noted that this constitutional provision is far broader than is found in most constitutions since it requires compensation for damage to private property.

The legislature has defined the kinds of private property which may be taken by Eminent Domain process in 78-34-2, UCA, 1953. It should be observed that real property is only one of the six types of property enumerated therein which may be taken and that subsection (6) thereof states that: "All classes of private property not enumerated. . ." in that statute may be taken. Any argument that the State has no authority to condemn personal property is clearly not



supported by the foregoing statute and constitutional provisions, and in fact the taking of personal property is expressly authorized therein and the Appellants are entitled to be compensated for all property taken or damaged. In any event, any limitation of authority to "take" property, which may be read into said statute, certainly does not in any manner limit the aforesaid constitutional provisions which require payment for personal property "taken or damaged" by actions of the State, whether said "taken or damaged" is done in compliance with an official action of the State done for the express purpose of taking or damaging any class of property or results necessarily from an official act done by the State for the purpose of "taking" some other property. The right to possess said automobiles and parts on that land is a valuable property right which has been taken. By reason of the and nature of said automobiles and limitation of space to which they could have been moved, and to mitigate damages, certain of said automobiles were scrapped and certain of them were removed to other property. The value of the automobiles which

were scrapped was as effectively destroyed by the condemnation as was the Appellants' right to possess and enjoy the real property upon which the automobiles were situated.

Admittedly the weight of authority is that moving costs of personal property is not compensable in eminent domain proceedings, however, this is probably explained by the fact that most states do not have a provision similar to our constitutional provision which requires just compensation for taking or damage (supra). (See cases annotated at 69 ALR2d 1453)

Costs incurred in moving personal property were allowed in Jacksonville Expressway Authority v. Henry G. Du Pree Co. (1958 Fla), 108 So. 2d. 289, 69 ALR 2d 1445; See also Date County v. Grigham, 47 So. 2d. 602; Date Co. v. Houk, Fla, 1956, 89 So. 2d 649; Arkansas Valley & W. R. Co. v. With, 19 Okla. 262, 21 Pac. 897, 13 LRA (NS) 237; Grand Rapids & I. R. Co. v. Weiden, 70 Mich, 390, 38 NW 294;

In State Highway Comm. v. Drake, 275 Mich 20, 97 NW 2d 748 the Court allowed recovery for fixture

removal damages for cost of relocating 180 different metal working machines, accessories, etc.

In *Edgcomb Steel of New England v. State*, 100 NH 480, 131 A. 2d 70 the Court held that the owner of real estate must be compensated for value of land, which includes payment for his right to use the land for storage of his personal property.

In *Braum v. Metropolitan West Side Elev. R. Co.* 166 Ill. 434, 46 NE 974 the Court stated that evidence of costs of moving was intended simply to aid in determining the fair cash value of the property in view of its present use.

In *Blincoe v. Choctaw, O. & W. R. Co.*, 16 Okla. 286, 83 P. 903, 3 LRA (NS) 890, 8 Ann Cas. 689 the Court held that damages for the cost of removing personal property must be considered in order to grant the landowner that just compensation assured him by the Constitution of the United States, as it was a direct loss to the owner and an added burden not shared by the other members of the public. (ART. I, Sec. 22, Utah Constitution also requires "just" compensation) See also *Hunder v. Chesapeake & O. R. Co.*

Sponsored by the S.J. Quinney Law Library. Funding for digitization provided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library.

107 Va. 158, 59 Se 415, 17 LRA (NS) 124 where expenses

of moving stock was also considered in determining market value of property taken.

A willing seller, about to sell the property in question as it was situated at the time of the taking in this case, would certainly have considered the cost of removal of the personal property situated thereon and any loss that might be sustained in connection with the removal in arriving at a price at which he would be willing to sell the property. In the same manner, if the property were to be sold with the personal property in place, a willing buyer would certainly have reduced the price which he would have been willing to pay for said property by the cost of removal. Appellants did not choose to sell the property taken by the State, and accordingly the State should be required to take the land as it finds it, and the loss incidental to that piece of a land being selected should be borne by the public at large and should not be imposed upon the Appellants.

## POINT II

THE COURT ERRED IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY CONCERNING

APPELLANTS' RIGHTS OF ACCESS AS ABUTTING PROPERTY OWNERS TO 21st SOUTH STREET.

In instructions 13 thru 16 the Court instructed the jury, in effect, that it could award no compensation to Appellants for denial of access to 21st South Street if they found that the denial was not unreasonable with regard to the safety and well being of the public in general, and that Appellants had no right of access to 21st South Street, the denial of which Appellants could be compensated, but that their rights, in common with the public at large, is limited to the right of reasonable access to the general system of highways. These instructions, when taken as a whole, tend to indicate to the jury that an abutting property owner has no greater or better rights to enter a particular highway than persons not situated near that highway, and that the use to which Appellants' land is devoted or could be devoted, if put to the highest and best use, and the unreasonableness of the denial of access onto 21st South Street with respect to that use, are not factors to be considered by the jury in determining the compensation to which Appellants are entitled. I submit that this is

not the law and that since the verdict of the jury, and that answer to the special interrogatory put to the jury, were based upon an unduly restrictive and incomplete statement of the factors which should be considered in determining the reasonableness of the restriction and limited their determination of unreasonableness to factors affecting public without regard to factors affecting Appellants, and accordingly the amount of damages to which Appellants are entitled. Certainly said instructions should have advised the jury that reasonableness of the denial of access should consider the uses to which the Appellants' property is or could be devoted at its highest and best use, rather than just the convenience of the public generally, as it stated in said jury instructions.

Twenty-First South Street is an old highway (R. 113, L. 20). Before the advent of the modern automobile most roads were land service roads, built by and primarily to serve abutting land owners, and in a real sense the abutting land owners were the owners of the road and had access from all parts of their property, although the public was allowed to use them



ment of the modern expressway, such as is being constructed in front of Appellants' property, the emphasis is now shifting to a traffic service road which necessarily severely limits the access. It is argued by the State that the police power permits them to regulate and to restrict many rights formerly enjoyed by a land owner and abutter without compensation, and an effort is made to classify the right to deny access to a highway as within the police power and to thus avoid paying for the damage done to the abutting property owner by reason of denying him access to the highway. The distinction between police power and the right to condemn by eminent domain should be kept clearly in mind to avoid confusion from high sounding terms. If the injury is different in kind rather than merely in degree from that suffered by the public in general there has been a taking which should be compensated. (Oklahoma Turnpike Authority v. Chandler, Okla., 316 P. 2d 828). Clearly the right to ingress and egress onto and from Appellants' land to and from 21st South

Street is a right not enjoyed by the public at large and is not a right which can be destroyed without compensation by merely attaching to the taking the label of "police power."

Under our Utah constitutional provision which provides for "just" compensation for ". . . taking or damage" (Art. I, Sec. 22) the enjoyment of convenient access to 21st South Street is an appurtenance to Appellants' property which gives that property special value, so that any material impairment of such access is a special damage, differing in kind from that suffered by the general public, and must be compensated in damages. (Institute on Eminent Domain, Southwestern Legal Foundation, 1962, Matthew Bender & Co. Pages 7-13 and cases there cited: Chicago v. Taylor, 125 U.S. 161, 8 S. Ct. 820 (1838); Martin V. United States, 270 F. 2d 65 (4th Cir., 1959); Pima County v. Bilby, 87 Ariz. 366, 351 P.2d 647 (1960); Hot Springs R.R. v. Williamson, 45 Ark. 429 (1889), aff'd 136 U. S. 121, 10 Ct. 955 (1890); Colorado Springs v. Stark, 57 Colo. 384, 140 P. 794 (1914);

**Louisville & N. R.R. v. West End Heights Land Co.**  
**135 Ga. 419, 69 S.E. 546 (1910); Dougherty County v.**  
**Hornsby, 213 Ga. 114, 97 S.E.2d 300 (1957), affirming**  
**94 Ga. App. 689, 96 S.E.2d 326 (1956); Baidler v.**  
**Sanitary District, 211 Ill. 628, 71 N.E. 1118,**  
**67 LRA 620 (1904); Dep't of Public Works & Buildings**  
**v. Finks, 10 Ill, 2d 20, 139 N.E.2d 242 (1956); City**  
**of Channelton v. Lewis, 123 Ind. App. 473, 111 N.E.2d**  
**899 (1953); Leavenworth, N. & S. Ry. v. Curtan, 51**  
**Kan. 432, 33 P. 297 (1893); Yates v. Big Sandy Ry.;**  
**28 Ky. L. 206, 89 S.W. 108 (1905); Cucurullo v.**  
**City of New Orleans, 229, La. 463, 86 So.2d 103 (1956);**  
**Mississippi State Highway Comm'n v. Spencer, 231 Miss.**  
**865, 101 So.2d 499 (1958); DeGeofray v. Merchants'**  
**Bridge Term. R.R. 179 Mo. 689, 79 S.W. 386, 64 LRA**  
**959 (1903); Chicago, K. & N. Ry. v. Hazels, 26, Neb.**  
**364, 42 N.W. 93 (1889); State ex rel. Merritt v.**  
**Linsell, 163 Ohio St. 97, 126 N.E.2d 53 (1955);**  
**Matter of Zerick, (Ohio), 129 N.E.2d 661 (1955)**  
**Foster Lumber Co. v. Arkansas Valley & W.Ry. 20**

Okl. 583, 95 P. 224, 100 P. 1110. 30 LRA (NS) 231 (1908); Pennsylvania S. v. R.R. v. Walsh, 124 Pa. 544, 17 A. 186 (1889); Houston v. Kleinecke, 26 S.W. 250 (Tex. Civ. App., 1894); Morris v. Oregon S.L.R.R., 36 Utah 14, 102 P. 629 (1909); Lund v. Idaho W. & N. R.R., 50 Wash. 574. 97 P. 665 (1908); Fowler v. Norfolk & W. Ry., 68 W. Va. 274, 69 S.E. 811 (1910).) When the construction of a limited-access highway results in the destruction of a pre-existing right of access, the damages are the difference between the value of the land before the destruction of the access and its value thereafter. (People v. A. T. Smith Co., 86 Cal. App. 2d 308, 194 P.2d 750; Boxberger v. State Highway Comm'n., 126 Colo 526, 251 P.2d 920.

Since Appellants' right of access to 21st South is an easement which differs in kind from that of the general public, it's substantial impairment is compensable, and although the service road constructed over the East portion thereof may be considered in mitigation of the damage, it does not relieve the State of its obligation to compensate for the impairment

of access. (State ex rel. Morrison v. Thelberg, 87 Ariz. 318, 350 P.2d 988; People v. Riccidari, 23 Cal. 2d 390, 144 P. 2d 799; McMoran v. State, 55 Wash, 2d 37, 345 P. 2d 598.) The creation of a non-access highway on 21st South where a general access highway theretofore existed unreasonably affects Appellants' rights of access as abutters and they are entitled to a jury instruction which indicates that they have a right to compensation therefor. (Blount County v. McPhearson, 268 Ala. 133, 105 So. 2d 117 (1958); State v. Thelberg, 87 Ariz. 318 350 P.2d 988 (1960); Florida State Turnpike Authority v. Anhoco Corp. (Fla.), 116 So. 2d 8 (1959); Holman v. State, 97 C.A. 2d 237 P.2d 448 (1950); Holo-way v. Purcell, 35 Cal. 2d 220, 217 P.2d 665 (1950); People v. Sayig, 101 Cal. App. 2d 890, 226 p.2d, 702 (1951); Riddle v. State Highway Comm'n, 184 Kan. 603, 339 P.2d 301 (1959); Nichols v. Commonwealth, 331 Mass. 581, 121 N.E.2d 56 (1954); Parrotta v. Commonwealth, 339 Mass. 402, 159 N.E.2d 342 (1959); Mississippi State Highway Comm'n v. Finch, 237 Miss. 314, 114 So. 2d 673 (1959); State v. Clevenger, 365

Mo. 970, 291 S. W. 2d 57 (1956); *Hederick v. Graham*, 245 N.C. 249, 96 S.E. 2d 129 (1957); *Williams v. North Carolina State Highway Comm'n*, 252 N.C. 772, 114 S.E.2d 782 (1960); *Neuweiler v. Kauer*, 62 Ohio L. Abs. 536, 107 N.E.2d 779 (1951); *In re. Appropriation of Easement for Highway Purposes*, 93 Ohio App. 179, 112 N.E. 2d 411 (1962); *State v. Collins*, 50 Wash. 2d 716, 314 P.2d 449 ( 1957).)

It has been argued by the State that the taking in this case does not result in a denial of access to Appellants' property, but merely makes the route more circuitous, and accordingly that Appellants are not entitled to compensation, whoever, this argument overlooks the important factor here involved that we have an unusually large tract of land. If the portion abutting on 21st South street was sold in parcels as commercial lots as would have been possible before access was denied, their value would have been substantial. Access by a circuitous route from



the frontage road on the East portion of Appellants' property does mitigate damages to some extent, but the net effect is that the commercial value of said lots abutting on 21st South Street is destroyed and said property becomes low value industrial property. If this argument was carried to its logical conclusion a person owning a square mile, or ten square miles, would still have access by a circuitous route to the general system of highways and would be denied compensation. If the Appellants' land was owned by several persons it would be unreasonable to even argue that each should not have access to 21st South Street, either directly or by means of a frontage road. Why then should Appellants be penalized because they own the entire tract. Certainly Appellants are entitled to the same privileges as would be afforded a group of persons who owned the same property.

The law is well settled that where an established "land-service" road such as 21st South Street is converted into a limited or non-access way, the owners of the rights of access which have come into being on the "land-service" road are entitled to compensation,

exactly as they would be if such rights were destroyed by any other type of construction. (43 ALR 2d 1074 and cases there annotated)

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