1963

State of Utah v. J. Herbert Hansen and Gertrude T. Hansen : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO CONSIDER EVIDENCE RELATIVE TO COSTS OF REMOVAL AND DAMAGE TO PERSONAL PROPERTY SITUATED ON THE CONDEMNED PARCEL AT THE DATE OF CONDEMNATION.

(a) Costs and damage incident to the removal and relocation of personal property is not a compensable element in an eminent domain proceeding.

Appellants, by this appeal, seek to overturn the decision of the lower Court wherein it was declared that costs and expenses incurred in removing chattels and other personal property from the expropriated tract and the damage incident to such removal are not compensable factors to be considered in a condemnation proceeding. Their brief in support of this point, at the same time, is void of any discussion respecting the established judicial precedent advocated by other courts passing on the issue.

The unquestioned weight of authority in the United States supports the proposition of law that removal and relocation costs of personalty from the condemned premises may not be recovered in eminent domain. Graphic of

this almost uniform pronouncement is the recent statement of the Arizona Supreme Court in *Arizona State Highway Department v. Chun, et al.*, 91 Ariz. 317, 372 P. 2d 324 (1962) :

“* * * The view sustained by the great majority of the cases is that an owner of real property taken or damaged in eminent domain is not entitled to compensation for the costs of removal of personal property from the premises. * * *”

In adhering to this principle, the courts have suggested a variety of reasons for denying payment:

- a. Eminent domain being treated as a sale between a willing buyer and seller, the buyer is not expected to pay for the removal costs of the seller's personal property;
- b. Removal costs and damage are remote, conjectural, and speculative;
- c. The statutes on eminent domain do not recognize such reimbursement.

As to the first specification, this court has oft-stated the basic test utilized in a proceeding to condemn property is that price which a willing buyer would pay for the parcel, and that price for which a willing seller would sell the property, neither being under the obligation to buy or sell, and both being reasonably informed as to the market. *State of Utah v. Noble*, 6 U. 2d 40, 305 P. 2d 495 (1957); *Southern Pacific Company v. Arthur*, 10 U. 2d 306, 352 P. 2d 693 (1960). In determining what that price is to be,

it is safe to say that in the normal course of events, neither buyer nor seller would anticipate paying or receiving the expenses that the seller would incur in removing his personal property from the premises. The rationale of this fact was acknowledged by the Minnesota Court in *In Re Assessment for Widening Third Street in St. Paul*, 176 Minn. 389, 223 N. W. 458:

“Appellant further claims that it is entitled to recover the expense of removing from the building. Appellant owns the building and stands in the position of seller. The city stands in the position of a buyer. Their relations are analogous to those between private parties where one is selling and the other buying. Where the owner sells to a private party, he removes from the property at his own expense. Where property is condemned the owner receives its fair value, and the decided weight of authority is that he is not entitled to an additional allowance for the expense of removing therefrom.”

The cornerstone of the eminent domain proceeding involves the appraisal of real property placed to the public use together with the assessment of damages to severed or non-contiguous real property remaining to the condemnee. 78-34-10 (1), (2) and (3), U. C. A. 1953. Historically, as well as statutorily, the legitimate objectives of the trial are to appraise real property interests, not to award the landowner a sum for removing and relocating his chattels. In the case of *LaMesa v. Tweed and Bambrell Planning Mill*, 304 P. 2d 803 (Cal. 1956), recovery for removal and relocation of personal property from the condemned area was refused, the California Court saying:

*"The cost of removing personal property is not a compensable item in a condemnation proceeding. Central Pac. R. Co. v. Pearson, 35 Cal. 247, 263; County of Los Angeles v. Signal Realty Company, 86 Cal. App. 704, 710, et seq., 261 Pac. 536. * * **
 The cost of removing or relocating such equipment is not reasonably related to its value as a part of the premises involved. Such a cost is not a compensable item recoverable as a part of the award for land taken or on account of severance damage.
** * * "*

See also *People of California v. Auman, et al.*, 220 P. 2d 569 (Cal. 1950).

As to the second specification above mentioned, testimony bearing upon any costs to remove and relocate personal property, by its inherent nature, is so speculative and conjectural that it should not, as a matter of law, be received. If such were admissible, the court would have to determine what a reasonable cost would be. In some circumstances, the expense might consist of removing the chattels to the contiguous property remaining to the owner; by the same mark, the owner could undoubtedly show that in order to utilize the property in substantially the same manner as before, it would be necessary to relocate it at a point more remote and distant. In cases of a total taking, the recovery could equal the cost of removing the property several miles from the right-of-way area, to the next county, or even to another state. The obscure and speculative features of this type of damage required the Missouri Supreme Court in *St. Louis City v. St. Louis R. R. Co.*, 266 Mo. 694, 182 S. W. 750, to reject the admission of such

evidence on the ground that there was no objective method to produce a uniform result. That court held:

“At first glance it is to be conceded that there exists a difficulty in finding a reason for not compensating the owner of personal chattels who is compelled to remove them for his expense in so removing them to a point at least beyond the edge of the right of way. It is equally clear, on the other hand, that no logical reason can be found for compensating him for the expense of removal beyond such point. This is so, for the reason A might desire to move his chattels only into the next adjoining house, while B might desire to have his taken several blocks or even several miles, and C on the other hand, his business being broken up, might desire to remove his goods to some other place or city.”

The Missouri court went on to say that the traditional concept of willing buyer and willing seller was the paramount consideration and that removal costs were not compensable:

“Viewed as a forced purchase by the public for the public good, as a damage action is, in the last analysis, the latter consideration seems of great weight, for if he whose land is condemned had voluntarily sold his land to a private purchaser, ordinarily, no thought would occur to either court or parties, absent agreement to that end, that the seller should be compensated by the buyer for the removal from the sold premises of mere personal goods and chattels.”

The Supreme Court of the United States has made its position known on the question. In *U. S. v. Petty Motor*

Motor Company, 327 U. S. 372, 66 S. Ct. 596, 90 L. Ed. 729 (1946), the Federal Government sought to condemn only a leasehold interest. The condemnee alleged that it ought to have its costs for removal and relocation of personal property. Mr. Justice Reed, for the court, stated:

“We think the sounder rule under the federal statutes is to treat the condemnation of all interests in a leasehold *like the condemnation of all interests in the fee. In neither situation should evidence of the cost of removal or relocation be admitted.*”

As to the third specification, the statutes of this jurisdiction, particularly those dealing with eminent domain (Title 78, Chapter 34, Section 1, et seq.) are silent on appellants' claim for compensation. In stereotyped fashion, appellants cite the “damage clause” of Article I, Section 22, Utah Constitution, as their standard for recouping relocation and removal costs. The quick and proper response to this argument is that this Court has held that the Article I, Section 22 “damage clause” has reference only to that injury which was *actionable at the common law*. *State of Utah v. Fourth District Court*, 94 Utah 384, 78 P. 2d 502 (1937). It becomes, therefore, sufficient to say that costs, expenses and damage for removal and relocation of personal property from the condemned premises were not actionable nor compensable at the common law. *State of New York v. Bodner Industries*, 187 N. Y. S. 2d 359 (1959); *Korengold v. City of Minneapolis*, 95 N. W. 2d 112 (Minn. 1959); 29 C. J. S., Eminent Domain, Sec. 162.

In *Ballantyne Company v. City of Omaha*, 173 Neb. 229, 113 N. W. 2d 486 (1962), the municipal authority sought to condemn the interest of lessee. The Constitution of Nebraska set forth a similar type of "damage clause" as maintained in Article I, Section 22, Utah Constitution. It was held therein that in absence of specific statute to the contrary, compensation cannot be recovered for relocation and removal costs proximately caused by condemnation.

A suit was instituted in *Lucas v. Carney*, 167 Ohio 416, 149 N. E. 2d 238 (1958) to recover for damages sustained to personal property caused by the construction of a public improvement on neighboring property; in addition, the prayer included a claim for costs in removing and relocating the chattels. In dismissing the suit, the Ohio court declared:

"Cases are legion to the effect that a taking under the power of eminent domain does not include the personal property lying on the premises taken but not affixed thereto, and that damages for injury to such personal property or the expense of removing it from the premises taken is not a proper element of compensation. The reason for this rule is that in an appropriation proceeding the specific property taken is designated and all other property is excluded, so that one may have compensation only for the property taken and for any damage to the residue. * * *

(b) *Such costs and damage constitute an indirect claim against the State of Utah.*

That the claim of appellants for removal and relocation costs of personal property is disassociated with the evaluation proceeding in eminent domain cannot be controverted. Necessarily, the conduct of the trial is directed toward the landed interests of the owner solely. Appellants' claim should be accorded similar treatment as any other complaint asserted against the State of Utah, the proper forum therefor being the State Board of Examiners. Article VII, Section 13, Utah Constitution; *Wood v. Budge*, 13 U. 2d 359, 374 P. 2d 516 (1962).

The proffer made by the property owner for reimbursement was an attempt to do by indirect means what this court, in a host of decisions, has said cannot be done directly. *State of Utah v. Sine*, 13 U. 2d 65, 368 P. 2d 585 (1962); *Fairclough v. State Road Commission*, 10 U. 2d 417, 354 P. 2d 105 (1960). District Judge Faux recognized that governmental immunity was a defense to the claim when he stated at the trial:

“* * * With respect to defendants' contention that compensation should be allowed for the expense of removing personal property from the parcel of ground sought to be condemned, the court takes the view that in so doing defendants are seeking damages other than that allowed by the condemnation statute *and to allow it would in effect be permitting defendants to sue the state without the state's consent.* * * *” (Emphasis ours.)

Accordingly, the appeal of appellants should be denied.

POINT II.

APPELLANTS FAILED TO TAKE EXCEPTION TO INSTRUCTIONS OF THE COURT NOS. 15 AND 16.

(a) *The landowners are, therefore, barred from raising objections to those instructions at the appellate level.*

Appellants, at page 12 of their brief, predicate their appeal upon objection to Instructions 13 through 16, inclusive, given by the Court to the jury. At the trial, exceptions were taken by counsel for the respective parties subsequent to the retirement of the jury. Objections were registered by counsel for the landowners only to Instructions 13 and 14, the same appearing at pages 395 and 396 of the transcript, as follows:

“Mr. Barker: Your Honor, my exception is only with respect to my opinion that *Instructions 13 and 14* tend to convey to the jury the negative point of view, only as to the propositions that the property owners have no interest in the continued flow of traffic or any particular flow of traffic by the property whereas my instruction indicated that the *landowner does have a right* to reasonable access *to the traffic* on roads abutting his property and that the reasonableness shall be determined with reference to the requirements of the highway to be constructed and the uses to which defendants’ property may be employed. My position is that it is too

negative with regard to this point and fails to include the positive aspect that the landowner does have a right of ingress and egress in a reasonable manner *as to all parts of his property*.

“That is all I have, Your Honor. * * *”

The failure of appellants to make known their objections to Instructions 15 and 16 at the trial level is fatal to their effort to now raise them as an issue on appeal, for the Rules of this Court require that an exception be taken before the trial judge. Rule 51, U. R. C. P., dealing with instructions to juries, provides in part:

“* * * No party may assign as error the giving or the failure to give an instruction unless he objects thereto. In objecting to the giving of an instruction, a party must state distinctly the matter to which he objects and the grounds for his objection. * * *”

The decisions are practically without number in this state in their pronouncement that unless an exception is taken to an instruction at the trial, an appeal may not be thereafter founded on that point. *State v. Anderson*, 75 Utah 496, 286 Pac. 645; *State v. Zimmerman*, 78 Utah 126, 1 P. 2d 962; *State v. Hines*, 6 U. 2d 126, 307 P. 2d 887 (1957). The policy underlying Rule 51 and the decisional trend is that the trial judge should be informed of his error so that he might take steps to cure the mistake prior to the return of the verdict. *Marks v. Tompkins*, 7 Utah 421, 27 Pac. 6.

Although Rule 51 provides that the appellate court

may waive the mandatory obligation resting on each party in the interests of justice, *McCall v. Kendrick*, 2 U. 2d 364, 274 P. 2d 962 (1954), the facts in the case at bar do not warrant such consideration.

POINT III.

INSTRUCTIONS OF THE COURT, NOS. 13 AND 14, PROPERLY SUBMITTED THE ISSUES OF ACCESS-CONTROL TO THE JURY.

(a) A property owner, whose tract abuts upon a public highway facility, has only the right of reasonable ingress and egress under the circumstances.

From the Statement of Facts, it is apparent that in conjunction with the widening of the public highway on 21st South Street, the public agency, acting within the province of the police power, established various traffic control and regulatory devices to facilitate the movement of traffic. For example, concrete median-strips were constructed separating east-west movement, left-hand stall lanes were built (see attached exhibit), and ingress and egress to and from contiguous tracts were defined at specific points. As a necessary corollary, the stream of traffic on 21st South Street, as such affected the property of appellants, was re-routed and limited.

Instruction No. 13 of the lower Court cautioned the triers of fact in their assessment of damages due to diversion or denial of traffic:

“You are instructed that a landowner whose property fronts upon a public highway facility has no right to the flow of traffic along his frontage nor to the continued flow of traffic which might have been formerly enjoyed.

“Consequently, in your deliberations, you shall not assess any compensation to the defendants by reason of the diversion or denial of any traffic flowing in front of the defendants’ property along 2100 South Street prior to the construction of the new highway improvement.”

To begin with, it is a cardinal rule of law in this country that a property owner has no right to the flow of traffic or traffic movement and that such may be diverted, altered or taken away without payment of any compensation therefor. *Winn v. United States*, 272 F. 2d 282 (9th Cir. 1959); *State of Oregon v. Ralston*, 359 P. 2d 529 (Ore. 1961). The Utah Supreme Court first spoke on the issue in *State Road Commission v. Rozzelle, et ux.*, 101 Utah 464, 120 P. 2d 276 (1941). It was therein said that the condemnee is not entitled to recover for loss of traffic by his property. The principle was succinctly stated in the recent case of *Weber Basin Water Conservancy District v. Hislop*, 12 U. 2d 64, 362 P. 2d 580 (1961), wherein a unanimous court, writing through Callister, J., said:

“* * * Appellant’s argument assumes that a landowner has a property right in the flow of traffic on a highway adjacent to his property. *This*

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